
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

__________________________________________ 
MANIILAQ ASSOCIATION,  ) 

)     
Plaintiff, )     

)      
           v. ) Case No: 13-0380 (TFH) 

)  
KATHLEEN SEBELIUS, Secretary of ) 
The Department of Health and Human  ) 
Services, et al, )   

           )   
Defendants.  )             

__________________________________________) 
 

DEFENDANT’S CROSS MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND OPPOSITION  

TO PLAINTIFF’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
 

Pursuant to Rules 12(b)(1), 12(b)(6) and 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 

Defendant Kathleen Sebelius, Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, et al., 

(HHS), through counsel, respectfully moves this Court to dismiss the complaint or, in the 

alternative, to grant summary judgment.  In support of this motion, the Defendant respectfully 

refers the Court to the attached memorandum of points and authorities.   

Because this is a dispositive motion, the undersigned has not sought Plaintiff=s consent 

before filing it.  LCvR 7 (m). 
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Dated:  July 19, 2013 Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

RONALD C. MACHEN JR., D.C. BAR #447889 
United States Attorney 

 
DANIEL F. VAN HORN, D.C. Bar # 924092 
Chief, Civil Division 

 
 /s/                                                                    
ANDREA McBARNETTE, D.C. Bar # 483789 
Assistant United States Attorney 
555 Fourth Street, N.W.     
Washington, D.C. 20530 
(202) 514-7153  
Andrea.McBarnette@usdoj.gov 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

__________________________________________ 
MANIILAQ ASSOCIATION,  ) 

)     
Plaintiff, )     

)      
           v. ) Case No: 13-0380 (TFH) 

)  
KATHLEEN SEBELIUS, Secretary of ) 
The Department of Health and Human  ) 
Services, et al, )   

           )   
Defendants.  )             

__________________________________________) 
 

DEFENDAN’S STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS  
 
 Pursuant to LCvR 7 (h)(2), Defendant, Kathleen Sebelius, Secretary of the Department of 

Health and Human Services, et al., (HHS), through counsel, respectfully submits this statement of 

material facts. 

1. The Indian Health Service (IHS), an Agency within the Department of Health and Human 

Services (HHS), is responsible for providing federal health services to American Indians and 

Alaska Natives. 

2. The Maniilaq Association (Maniilaq) is an Alaska Native Regional Non-Profit Corporation 

which has a self-governance compact and annual funding agreements (FAs), pursuant to the Tribal 

Self-Governance provisions of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act 

(ISDEAA), 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-458aaa-18.  Compl. ¶ 1. 

3. In 2003, the Plaintiff:  1) took over ownership of the Ambler City facility; 2) canceled the 

lease between IHS and the City of Ambler; and 3) requested that the funding for the canceled lease 

be directed to its FA.  See Declaration of Paula Poncho (Poncho Decl.), Exhibit 2 (VBC lease); 

Poncho Decl. Exhibit 3 (“This letter is to notify you that the Maniilaq Association will be taking 
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over ownership of the following clinic locations ...Ambler – Effective 1/03 … We also request 

[IHS] cancel the lease[].”).   

4. According to Poncho, the Alaska Area Native Health Service Realty Management Officer, 

every year since 2003, the IHS has directed the amount allocated to the previous VBC lease into 

the Plaintiff’s funding agreement.  Poncho Decl., ¶ 8, 17. 

5. By memorandum dated February 29, 2013, the Plaintiff notified IHS that it sought to 

negotiate VBC leases under the authority of Section 105(l) of the ISDEAA.  Exhibit 1. 

6. In a letter dated May 15, 2012, IHS informed the Plaintiff, among other things, that Section 

105(l) leases are not negotiated and such lease requests should be in concordance with the Lease 

Priority System (LPS).  IHS also informed the Plaintiff that leases are not attached to funding 

agreements.  Exhibit 2.   

7. In a letter dated November 28, 2012 and attached to a proposed lease to Plaintiff’s FA, the 

Plaintiff used the term “final offer” once.  The term is not in the subject line on the first page of 

the letter.   Rather, the term final offer appears in the last paragraph on the third page of a four 

page letter.  Exhibit 3. 

8. In a letter dated January 25, 2013, the IHS responded to the November 28, 2012 letter.  

IHS referenced its May 15, 2012 letter and again informed the Plaintiff that the ISDEAA  give 

IHS discretion in determining the compensation of a lease under Section 105(l) .  IHS also 

informed the Plaintiff that it did not agree the Plaintiff’s November 28, 2012 lease proposal may be 

submitted as a final offer under the ISDEAA or that a lease could be a part of a funding agreement.  

Exhibit 4. 

9. The Plaintiff filed suit in the District Court on April 2013. 
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Dated:  July 19, 2013   Respectfully submitted, 

 
 

RONALD C. MACHEN JR., D.C. BAR #447889 
United States Attorney 

 
DANIEL F. VAN HORN, D.C. Bar # 924092 
Chief, Civil Division 

 
 /s/                                                                    
ANDREA McBARNETTE, D.C. Bar # 483789 
Assistant United States Attorney 
555 Fourth Street, N.W.     
Washington, D.C. 20530 
(202) 514-7153  
Andrea.McBarnette@usdoj.gov 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

__________________________________________ 
MANIILAQ ASSOCIATION,  ) 

)     
Plaintiff, )     

)      
           v. ) Case No: 13-0380 (TFH) 

)  
KATHLEEN SEBELIUS, Secretary of ) 
The Department of Health and Human  ) 
Services, et al, )   

           )   
Defendants.  )             

__________________________________________) 
 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW  
IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS  

OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
 

 Defendant Kathleen Sebelius, Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, 

et al., (HHS), through counsel, respectfully submits this motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, for 

summary judgment.  The Plaintiff, the Maniilaq Association (Maniilaq), brings suit under the 

Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act (ISDEAA), 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa, et seq. 

INTRODUCTION 

 In 2003, the Plaintiff cancelled the Ambler City facility lease with the HHS’s Indian Health 

Service (IHS) and requested that the Plaintiff receive the funds for the lease in its funding 

agreement amount.  Every year since then, the Plaintiff has received the funds for the cancelled 

lease.  Even though the Plaintiff is still receiving the funds allocated for the cancelled lease, the 

Plaintiff now seeks the Court to order IHS to provide a new lease for its Ambler City facility and 

make double payments - once in its compact funding agreement and then again in a new lease for 

the same item. 
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 The Plaintiff alleges that pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa -6(b) and (c), it made a final offer 

regarding the Ambler City facility lease under the IDEAA and that the Defendant failed to timely 

and properly respond to that final offer.  The Plaintiff requests that the Court deem the alleged 

final offer as accepted as a matter of law.  The Plaintiff further requests that if the Court finds that 

its alleged final offer was not subject to the final offer provision of 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa -6(b) and 

(c), that in the alternative, the Court:  declare that the Plaintiff need not submit its lease request to 

the Lease Priority System (LPS) as contained in IHS’s Technical Handbook; order the Defendant 

to approve the requested lease; and 3) provide monetary compensation for the lease. 

  The Plaintiff, however, did not comply with the regulatory requirements for a final offer 

under 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa -6(b) and in any event, a lease is not subject to the final offer process 

under 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa -6(b).  While the Defendant does not dispute that the Plaintiff need not 

submit to the LPS, IHS itself must comply with the LPS, which is an administrative process 

designed to prevent IHS from an unauthorized program expansion through leasing and enable IHS 

to assess the need to lease small health care clinic space.  See Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook, 

Exhibit 5, 33-3.1.1(C) ; 33-3.1.1 at 2.  Pursuant to the ISDEAA, the IHS has discretion in 

determining the compensation for leases.  For these reasons, the Court should dismiss the 

complaint or grant summary judgment in its favor.   

 If the Court deems the alleged final offer as a valid final offer and that a lease request is 

subject to the final offer provisions of 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa -6(b) and (c), then, in the alternative, the 

Court should remand the request back to IHS to determine what compensation needs to be 

provided.  If the Court determined that the lease must be approved and monetarily compensated, 

the Court should take steps to avoid a double payment windfall for the Plaintiff.  The Court should 
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condition the grant of the lease upon the Plaintiff’s agreement to forego the funding it already 

receives every year through its ISDEAA compact/funding agreement for the previously cancelled 

lease for its Ambler City facility.  25 U.S.C. 450j-1(b)(2) (“Amount of funds required by 

subsection A [amount of medical service funds] shall not be reduced by the Secretary in 

subsequent years except by tribal authorization”).   

LEGAL AND HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

 A. Indian Health Service (IHS) 

 The Indian Health Service (IHS), an Agency within the Department of Health and Human 

Services (HHS), is responsible for providing federal health services to American Indians and 

Alaska Natives.  See Lincoln v. Vigil, 508 U.S. 182, 185 (1993); see also S. Rep. No. 102-392, 

102d Cong., 2d Sess., at 2-3 (1992), reprinted in 1992 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3943.  IHS delivers health 

care to American Indians and Alaska Natives through three separate mechanisms: (1) by providing 

health care services directly through its own facilities; (2) by contracting with Tribes and Tribal 

Organizations pursuant to the ISDEAA to allow those Tribes to independently operate health care 

delivery programs previously provided by IHS; and (3) by funding contracts and grants to 

organizations operating health programs for urban Indians.  Id. at 4. 

 B. The Community Health Aide Program (CHAP) 

 The Community Health Aide Program (CHAP) was initiated during the tuberculosis 

epidemic of the 1950s.  Village volunteers, later known as community health aides, helped to 

bring tuberculosis under control.  IHS formally established the CHAP in 1968.  Exhibit 6, 
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Technical Handbook, 33-3.3-1.  The CHAP became a provision of the Indian Health Care 

Improvement Act (IHCIA), in 1992.  Public Law 102-573.1, S. 2481, 102nd Cong. (1992).   

 Under the CHAP program, IHS is to “develop and operate a Community Health Aide 

Program in the State of Alaska.”  25 U.S.C. §§ 1616l(a).  IHS is to train persons to become 

community health aides, develop a curriculum for the community health aides that will meet the 

health goals of the IHCIA (set forth in 25 U.S.C. § 1602), and create and maintain a Federal 

Community Health Aide Program Certification Board by which individuals who complete the 

training curriculum completely are certified to provide services in the program.  25 U.S.C. §§ 

1616l(a) and (b). Further, the Secretary must develop a system under which the community health 

aides are evaluated to assure the provision of quality health care, health promotion, and disease 

prevention.  25 U.S.C. § 1616l(b)(6).  By statute, the IHS through its Federal Community Health 

Aide Program Certification Board is responsible for these functions in the oversight and creation 

of the Community Health Aide Program, including the Alaska Dental Health Aide Program, even 

though the daily operations of the program are carried out through tribes and tribal organizations. 

 C. Village Built Clinics (VBC) 

 Village Built Clinics are specific to Alaska and IHS’s Alaska Area Native Health Service 

(AANHS) policy.  Exhibit 6, Technical Handbook, 33-3.3.1.  The VBC leasing program is 

“intended to lease space in isolated Alaskan locations where the Community Health Aide is the 

primary health care provider.”  Exhibit 6, Technical Handbook, 33-3.3.1.   In 1969-1970, 

Congress authorized the IHS to lease facilities in rural Alaska where health care services were to 

be provided.  Id. at 33-3.3.2.  In 1989, the Department of Interior and Related Agencies 
                                                 
1  The CHAP was statutorily authorized in the IHCIA in 1992, not 1968 as the Plaintiff states in its 
Motion for Summary Judgment.  Plt. MSJ at 2. 
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Appropriations Act authorized a maximum number of one hundred and seventy (170) VBCs in 

Alaska and provided approximately three million in funding for these leases.  P.L. 100-446, 102 

Stat. 1774, 1817 (1989).   

 The IHS relies on its categorical space delegation of authority from GSA to lease this type 

of space.  See 43 C.F.R. §102-73.145-55.  Pursuant to regulation, VBC leases are capped at 

$50,000 and IHS uses a set formula to determine the yearly lease payment.  Alaska Area Circular 

(Attached as Poncho Decl. Exhibit 3) at ¶ 6.  Requests for VBC leases, if the proposed clinic 

meets all regulatory criteria, will be granted if “sufficient funds are available.”  Id. at ¶ 11-E. 

Pursuant to AANHS practice, “VBC leases are between the IHS and a third party, not the [tribal] 

contractor that has an ISDEAA compact/funding with the IHS.”  Poncho Decl., ¶ 9.  

 D. PSFAs and Funding Agreements  

 The Indian Health Care Improvement Act (IHCIA), 25 U.S.C. §§ 1601–1683, establishes 

numerous programs specifically created by Congress to address particular Indian health initiatives, 

such as alcohol and substance abuse treatment, diabetes, medical training, and urban Indian health. 

The IHCIA is a statutory source of authority for programs, services, functions, and activities 

(PSFAs), such as the Community Health Aide Program.  See 25 U.S.C. §§ 1601–1683. 

 In 1975, Congress enacted the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act 

(ISDEAA), Pub. L. 93-638, as amended.  The ISDEAA authorizes Indian tribes and tribal 

organizations to assume responsibility for the administration of PSFAs that HHS, through IHS, 

would otherwise be obligated to provide.  25 U.S.C. § 450f(a)(1).  So while the IHCIA is the 

statutory source of authority for PSFAs, the ISDEAA provides the vehicle by which such PSFAs 

are transferred from IHS to tribal management.  Indian tribes and tribal organizations may assume 
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IHS PSFAs either by entering into contracts under Title I of the ISDEAA or into self-governance 

“compacts” under Title V.  See 25 U.S.C. §§ 450l(a), (c), 458aaa-3(a).  Compacts and contracts 

entered into pursuant to the ISDEAA are accompanied by a separate “funding agreement” (FA) 

negotiated annually by the parties.  See 25 U.S.C. § 458cc.  The funding agreement identifies the 

PSFAs or portions thereof the Indian tribe or tribal organization has elected to assume and 

specifies the level of funding each PSFA under the contract or compact will receive. 

 E. Final Offer Process 

 Should negotiations concerning these PSFAs and other provisions break down, an Indian 

tribe or tribal organization may present the IHS with a proposal that is labeled a “final offer” under 

Section 507(b) of the ISDEAA.  This section states: 

In the event the Secretary and a participating Indian tribe are unable to agree, in 
whole or in part, on the terms of a compact or funding agreement (including 
funding levels), the Indian tribe may submit a final offer to the Secretary.  Not 
more than 45 days after such submission, or within a longer time agreed upon by 
the Indian tribe, the Secretary shall review and make a determination with respect 
to such offer. In the absence of a timely rejection of the offer, in whole or in part, 
made in compliance with subsection (C), the offer shall be deemed agreed to by the 
Secretary.   
 

25 U.S.C. §458aaa-6(b).  Should the IHS decide to reject a final offer, the agency must 

provide written notification containing a specific finding supported by controlling legal 

authority.  25 U.S.C. §458aaa-6(c)(1)(A)(i-iv).  
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 F. IHS Leasing  

 The IHS has lease authority under ISDEAA and IHCIA.2 Although IHS is authorized to 

enter into leases under ISDEAA and IHCIA, no corresponding budget authority has ever been 

included in IHS appropriations bills.  Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook 33-3.1.1(B).   

 i. ISDEAA 

 Under the ISDEAA, IHS has no discretion as to whether it will enter into a lease – the IHS 

must enter into a lease under this authority if requested by the tribal contractor.  25 U.S.C. § 

450j(l)(1) (“Upon the request of an Indian tribe or tribal organization, the Secretary shall enter into 

a lease with the Indian tribe or tribal organization that holds title to, a leasehold interest in, or a 

trust interest in, a facility used by the Indian tribe or tribal organization for the administration and 

delivery of services under this subchapter.”) (emphasis added). 

 However, the ISDEAA gives the IHS discretion about determining what type of 

compensation it will give for the lease.  25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2).  Pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 

450j(l)(2): 

The Secretary shall compensate each Indian tribe or tribal organization that enters into a 
lease under paragraph (1) for the use of the facility leased for the purposes specified in such 
paragraph. Such compensation may include rent, depreciation based on the useful life of 
the facility, principal and interest paid or accrued, operation and maintenance expenses, 
and such other reasonable expenses that the Secretary determines, by regulation, to be 
allowable. 
 

25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2) (emphasis added). 

                                                 
2  The Department of Interior and Related Agencies Appropriations Act authorized a 
maximum number of one hundred and seventy (170) VBCs in Alaska and provided approximately 
three million in funding for these leases.  P.L. 100-446, 102 Stat. 1774, 1817 (1989).  The IHS 
relies on its categorical space delegation of authority from GSA to lease this type of space.  See 43 
C.F.R. §102-73.145-55. 
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 Section 105(l) authorizes a lease under which IHS does not occupy or directly utilize the 

tribal facility as a tenant.3  See 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(1).  Rather than direct utilization, the section 

105(l) leasing authority is used to formalize the relationship between IHS programs and the tribal 

facility in which they are operated.  Execution of a section 105(l) lease provides the tribal facility 

with “facility of the service” status, making the facility eligible for participation in the M&I 

Program, third party billing, and similar benefits.   

  ii) IHCIA authority 

 Under the IHCIA, IHS has the discretion in determining whether the agency will enter into 

a lease of up to twenty years.  25 U.S.C. §1674(a) (“Secretary is authorized … to enter into leases 

with Indian tribes for periods not in excess of twenty years”).  Pursuant to 25 U.S.C. §1674(b): 

Secretary may enter into leases, contracts, and other legal agreements with Indian tribes or 
tribal organizations which hold . . . facilities used for the administration and delivery of 
health services by the Service or by programs operated by Indian tribes or tribal 
organizations for costs associated with the use of such facilities for such purposes. 
 

25 U.S.C. §1674(b).   

 But if the agency agrees to enter into a lease under this authority, the IHS must compensate 

the tribal contractor for facility costs related to the lease.  25 U.S.C. §1674(b) (“Such costs 

include rent, depreciation based on the useful life of the building, principal and interest paid or 

accrued, operation and maintenance expenses, and other expenses determined by regulation to be 

allowable.”)  

  

                                                 
3   Under 25 U.S.C. § 2507(a), provisions of the ISDEAA, 25 U.S.C. § 450 et seq., apply to grants 
under this this chapter.  Specifically, 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l) applies to Section 105(l).  25 U.S.C. § 
2507 (a)(7). 
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 iii. Interplay of ISDEAA and IHCIA 

 The two statutes together give both tribal contractors and the IHS a choice.  If a tribal 

contractor wants to be assured of receiving funds to compensate it for facility costs, it may make a 

lease proposal under the IHCIA.  See 25 U.S.C. §1674(b) (if the agency agrees to enter into a 

lease under this authority, the IHS must compensate the tribal contractor for facility costs related to 

the lease).  On the other hand, if a tribal contractor can be content with the possibility of receiving 

no monetary compensation and would rather have the benefits of having its health facility be 

considered federal property (such as no state property taxes or being subject to state regulatory 

laws because the United States has the leasehold interest in the property), then it may make a lease 

proposal under the ISDEAA.  See 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2) (IHS has discretion about determining 

what type of compensation it will give for the lease). 

 The requesting tribe is able to enjoy the benefits that attend property that the federal 

government has an interest in, such as the extension of coverage under the Federal Tort Claims Act 

(25 U.S.C. §§ 450f(d)and 458aaa-15(a)), freedom from state property taxes as well as being 

considered a facility of Public Health Service for compensation under Social Security Act 

authorities. Ex. 5, p.2.  These benefits are considered compensation in situations when it would be 

inappropriate for the IHS to provide monetary compensation.  For example, when the IHS builds 

a hospital or clinic and then transfers ownership to a tribe under the ISDEAA, IHS grants the § 

450j(l) lease a zero amount.  Having paid to build the hospital or clinic, IHS in effect has already 

paid once and would not then pay for a lease, that would be tantamount to paying twice (creation of 

building and leasing of the building).  The IHS also provides non-monetary leases as part of its 

Joint Venture Construction Program under the IHCIA.  25 U.S.C. § 1680h(e)(1). 
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 G. Congressional scrutiny on IHS Leasing 

 i. Congressional ban on new leases and reporting requirements on old leases 

 Congressional committees place a high level of oversight on IHS facility expansion plans, 

including leasing.  For example, IHS was prohibited from entering into new leases for twelve 

years, between 1979 and 1991.  See Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook 33-3.1.1(B); see also Pub. 

Law No. 99-100 (“Provided, That none of the funds appropriated under this Act to the Indian 

Health Service shall be available for the initial lease of permanent structures without advance 

provision therefor in appropriations Acts,”).  Congress also cautioned IHS against encouraging 

Indian tribes and Alaska Natives to construct facilities based on federal lease support without 

specific prior approval of Congress and questioned whether IHS’ authority even authorized lease 

acquisition without prior congressional approval.  S. Rep. No. 96-363 (1980).  Congress 

specifically required IHS to submit reports to Congress identifying any proposed adjustments to 

existing leases involving additional space or any proposed additional leases.  See Pub. Law No. 

101-512 (“Provided, That no later than 30 days after the end of each quarter of the fiscal year, the 

Indian Health Service is to report to the Committees on Appropriations of the United States House 

of Representatives and the United States Senate on any proposed adjustments to existing leases 

involving additional space or proposed additional leases for permanent structures to be used in the 

delivery of Indian health care services).”   

 ii. Lease Priority System (LPS)  

 “Through IHS negotiation with the Senate and House Subcommittees on Appropriations, 

the IHS was able to suggest the Lease Priority System (LPS) as a means to self-monitor against 

unauthorized program expansion through leasing.”  Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook 33-3.1.1(B).  
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As a result of the creation of LPS, Congress lifted the lease ban and the express reporting 

requirement.  See Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook 33-3.1.1(B).  The LPS is an administrative 

review process utilized to evaluate proposed leases and where applicable, to certify the existence 

of available funding.      

 Upon issuance the LPS was made part of the statutorily mandated IHS “Health Care 

Facility Priority System” (Facility Priority System).  25 U.S.C. § 1631; Technical Handbook LPS 

Section XYZ.  Under the IHCIA, IHS is charged with establishing a Facility Priority System that, 

through tribal consultation, establishes a need based methodology for assessing and prioritizing 

planning, design, construction, renovation, and expansion needs of IHS and tribal facilities.  Id.  

In evaluating the needs of tribal facilities, IHS has been instructed by Congress to develop and 

apply its own methodology.  25 U.S.C. § 1631(D).  Those criteria have been adopted in the LPS 

policy and are applied to assess lease proposals.  

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

 The Maniilaq Association (Maniilaq) is an Alaska Native Regional Non-Profit Corporation 

which has a self-governance compact and annual funding agreements (FAs), pursuant to the Tribal 

Self-Governance provisions of the Indian Self-Determination and Education Assistance Act 

(ISDEAA), 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-458aaa-18.  Compl. ¶ 1. 

 In 2003, the Plaintiff:  1) took over ownership of the Ambler City facility; 2) canceled the 

lease between IHS and the City of Ambler; and 3) requested that the funding for the canceled lease 

be directed to its FA.  See Poncho Decl. (Poncho Decl.), Exhibit 2 (VBC lease); Poncho Decl. 

Exhibit 3 (“This letter is to notify you that the Maniilaq Association will be taking over ownership 
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of the following clinic locations ...Ambler – Effective 1/03 … We also request [IHS] cancel the 

lease[].”).   

 According to Poncho, the Alaska Area Native Health Service Realty Management officer, 

every year since 2003, the IHS has directed the amount allocated to the previous VBC lease into 

the Plaintiff’s funding agreement.  Poncho Decl., ¶ 8, 17. 

 By memorandum dated February 29, 2013, the Plaintiff notified IHS that it sought to 

negotiate VBC leases under the authority of Section 105(l) of the ISDEAA.  Exhibit 1.  In a letter 

dated May 15, 2012, IHS informed the Plaintiff, among other things, that Section 105(l) leases are 

not negotiated and such lease requests should be in concordance with the Lease Priority System 

(LPS).  IHS also informed the Plaintiff that leases are not attached to funding agreements.  

Exhibit 2.  

 In a letter dated November 28, 2012 and attached to a proposed lease to Plaintiff’s FA, the 

Plaintiff used the term “final offer” once.  The term is not in the subject line on the first page of 

the letter.   Rather, the term final offer appears in the last paragraph on the third page of a four 

page letter.  Exhibit 3. 

 In a letter dated January 25, 2013, the IHS responded to the November 28, 2012 letter.  

IHS referenced its May 15, 2012 letter and again informed the Plaintiff that the ISDEAA  give 

IHS discretion in determining the compensation of a lease under Section 105(l) .  IHS also 

informed the Plaintiff that it did not agree the Plaintiff’s November 28, 2012 lease proposal may be 

submitted as a final offer under the ISDEAA or that a lease could be a part of a funding agreement.  

Exhibit 4. 

 The Plaintiff filed suit in the District Court on April 2013. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 A. Rule 12(b)(1) 

 A motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(1) challenges the court's power to hear a case. 

“Federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction. They possess only that power authorized by 

Constitution and statute.”  Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of Am., 511 U.S. 375, 377 (1994) 

(citations omitted).  When challenged on the issue, the party asserting subject-matter jurisdiction 

bears the burden of establishing that the court does in fact have subject-matter jurisdiction over the 

dispute.  Moms Against Mercury v. FDA, 483 F.3d 824, 828 (D.C. Cir. 2007). 

 When considering a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction under Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) the court accepts as true all factual allegations in the complaint.  

Jerome Stevens Pharms., Inc. v. FDA, 402 F.3d 1249, 1253 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (quoting United 

States v. Gaubert, 499 U.S. 315, 327 (1991)).  In addition, the court may consider materials 

outside the pleadings to resolve the question of whether it has jurisdiction to hear the case.  

Jerome Stevens Pharms., Inc., 402 F.3d at 1254 (citing Herbert v. Nat'l Academy of Sciences, 974 

F.2d 192, 197 (D.C. Cir. 1992)); Haase v. Sessions, 835 F.2d 902, 906 (D.C. Cir. 1987). 

 B. Rule 12(b)(6) 

  Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, “[t]o survive a motion to 

dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to 

relief that is plausible on its face.’”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 663 (2009) quoting Bell 

Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 1974 (2007); see also Aktieselskabet v. Fame Jeans, 

Inc., 525 F.3d 8, 16-17 (D.C. Cir. 2008); In re Sealed Case, 494 F.3d 139, 145 (D.C. Cir. 2007).  

A complaint is plausible on its face Awhen the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court 
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to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.@  Iqbal, 

556 U.S. at 663.  This amounts to a Atwo-pronged approach@ under which a court first identifies 

the factual allegations entitled to an assumption of truth and then determines Awhether they 

plausibly give rise to an entitlement to relief.@  Id. at 1950-51. 

The Court must construe the factual allegations in the complaint in the light most favorable 

to Plaintiff.  Barr v. Clinton, 370 F.3d 1196, 1199 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (citing Kowal v. MCI 

Commc=ns Corp., 16 F.3d 1271, 1276 (D.C. Cir. 1994)).  However, the Court need not accept any 

inferences or conclusory allegations that are unsupported by the facts pleaded in the complaint.  

Kowal, 16 F.3d at 1276.  Moreover, the Court need not Aaccept legal conclusions cast in the form 

of factual allegations.@  Id. 

 In deciding a 12(b)(6) motion, the Court may consider materials outside the pleadings to 

the extent that they consist of Aany documents either attached to or incorporated in the complaint 

and matters of which we may take judicial notice.@  EEOC v. St. Francis Xavier Parochial School, 

117 F.3d 621, 624 (D.C. Cir. 1997).  For example, the D.C. Circuit instructed that court papers 

filed elsewhere by the plaintiff may be relied upon by the Court in deciding a motion to dismiss.  

See Jankovic v. Internat=l Crisis Group, 494 F.3d 1080, 1088 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (citing Marshall 

County Health Care Auth. v. Shalala, 988 F.2d 1221, 1222-23 (D.C. Cir. 1993)); accord Covad 

Commun. Co. v. Bell Atlantic Corp., 407 F.3d 1220, 1222 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (judicial notice of 

other court decisions and party=s failure to respond to argument regarding them).  Similarly, the 

D.C. Circuit approved the district court’s decision to take judicial notice of public records on file at 

a government agency in Kaempe v. Myers, 367 F.3d 958, 965 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (patent assignment 

records on file with the Patent Trademark Office).  See also Trudeau v. FTC, 456 F.3d 178, 183 
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(D.C. Cir. 2006) (press release and agency order attached to plaintiff=s complaint); In re Cheney, 

406 F.3d 723, 729 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (statements attached to complaint that undermined inference 

advocated by plaintiff). 

 C. Rule 56 

 Under Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment shall be granted 

“if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a); accord Anderson v. Liberty 

Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 247 (1986).  Moreover, summary judgment is properly granted against 

a party who “after adequate time for discovery and upon motion ... fails to make a showing 

sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that 

party will bear the burden of proof at trial.”  Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). 

 In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the court must draw all justifiable inferences 

in the nonmoving party's favor and accept the nonmoving party's evidence as true.  Anderson, 477 

U.S. at 255.  A nonmoving party, however, must establish more than “the mere existence of a 

scintilla of evidence” in support of its position.  Id. at 252.  In addition, the nonmoving party may 

not rely solely on allegations or conclusory statements.  Greene v. Dalton, 164 F.3d 671, 675 

(D.C. Cir. 1999).  Rather, the nonmoving party must present specific facts that would enable a 

reasonable jury to find in its favor.  Id. at 675.  If the evidence “is merely colorable, or is not 

significantly probative, summary judgment may be granted.”  Anderson, 477 U.S. at 249–50 

(citations omitted). 
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 D.  ISDEAA 

 The Administrative Procedure Act’s arbitrary and capricious standard of review is the 

appropriate standard for cases brought under ISDEAA.  See Al-Fayed v. C.I.A., 254 F.3d 300, 

304 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (quoting Dickson v. Sec’y of Def., 68 F.3d 1396, 1404 n. 12 (D.C. Cir. 1995) 

and citing Workplace Health & Safety Council v. Reich, 56 F.3d 1465, 167 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (“The 

APA, however, ‘provides a default standard of judicial review . . . where a statute does not 

otherwise provide a standard.’”)).  Plaintiff brought this action pursuant to the ISDEAA, 25 

U.S.C. § 450m-1(a) and the ISDEAA provides no standard of review.  Cherokee Nation of 

Oklahoma v. U.S., 190 F. Supp.2d 1254 (E.D. Okla. 2001), aff’d, 311 F.3d 1054 (10th Cir. Okla. 

2002), rev’d on other grounds, 543 U.S. 631, 125 S.Ct. 1172 (2005); Shoshone-Bannock Tribes of 

the Fort Hall Reservation v. Shalala, 988 F. Supp. 1306, 1313 (D. Or. 1997).  When a statute 

provides for judicial review but fails to set-forth the standards for that review, it is well accepted 

that the court looks to the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) for guidance.  United States v. 

Carlo Bianchi & Company, 373 U.S. 709, 715 (1963).   

 This Court has applied the APA’s arbitrary and capricious standard to challenges of 

Agency decisions involving the interpretation and application of the ISDEAA.  See Citizen 

Potawatomi Nation v. Salazar, 624 F. Supp.2d 103, 109 (D.D.C. 2009) (applying the APA 

standard of review to claims under the Indian Self–Determination Act (ISDA); contra Seneca 

Nation of Indians v. U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services, --- F. Supp.2d ---, 2013 WL 

2255208 at *6 (D.D.C. 2013) (applying de novo standard of review to Plaintiff’s ISDEAA claims).   

 In Seneca Nations, the Court applied the de novo standard of review to IDEAA claims in 

part because IHS agreed that the review was de novo.  Seneca Nation , 2013 WL 2255208 at *6 n 
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5 (“The parties agree that this Court’s review is de novo”).  But IHS only agreed to de novo 

review because it had determined that the Plaintiff had brought claims under the Contract Disputes 

Act (CDA), which requires de novo review under  42 U.S.C. § 7104(b)(4).  See Exhibit 7, 

1:12-cv-01494-RMC, ECF # 15 at 9 (“Pursuant to the CDA, under which this action is brought, a 

contracting officer’s decision is reviewed de novo).  Unlike in Seneca Nations, here, in this case, 

the IHS does not agree that the Court’s review is de novo.  Rather, the applicable standard is the 

APA’s arbitrary and capricious standard of review.  See Citizen Potawatomi Nation v. Salazar, 

624 F. Supp.2d 103, 109.  

 The APA standard of review requires a court to determine if the decision was “arbitrary, 

capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with the law.”  5 U.S.C. § 

706(2)(A).  It also limits review to the administrative record.  5 U.S.C. § 706.  Under the APA, 

“[a]rbitrary and capricious review requires the court to ‘consider whether the decision was based 

on a consideration of the relevant factors and whether there has been a clear error in judgment.’”  

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Dep’t of the Air Force, 215 F.Supp.2d 200, 204 (D.D.C. 2002) 

(internal citation omitted).  This review is highly deferential and presumes the validity of agency 

action.  See Kisser v. Cisneros, 14 F.3d 615, 618) (D.C. Cir. 1994); American Horse Protection 

Ass’n, Inc. v. Yeutter, 917 F.2d 594, 596 (D.C. Cir. 1990).  The Court must determine whether 

the agency has articulated a “rational connection between the facts found and the choice made.”  

Bowman Transportation v. Arkansas-Best Freight Sys., 419 U.S.S 281, 285 (1974) (quoting 

Burlington Truck Lines, Inc. v. United States, 371 U.S.S 156, 168 (1962)). 

 “‘When a final agency action is challenged under the APA in district court, if the relevant 

substantive statute does not provide for direct review in the court of appeals, the district court does 
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not perform its normal role’ but instead ‘sits as an appellate tribunal.’”  PPG Indus., Inc. v. United 

States, 52 F.3d 363, 365 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (quoting Marshall County Health Care Auth. v. Shalala, 

988 F.2d 1221, 1225 (D.C. Cir. 1993)); accord James Madison Ltd.v. Ledwig, 82 F.3d 1085, 1096 

(D.C. Cir. 1996) (“Generally speaking, district courts reviewing agency action under the APA’s 

arbitrary and capricious standard do not resolve factual issues, but operate instead as appellate 

courts resolving legal questions.”), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 1077 (1997).  The Court may reverse 

only if the agency’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, or the agency has made a 

clear error in judgment.  Citizens to Preserve Overton Park v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 415-416 

(1971); see also Motor Vehicle Mfgs. Ass’n v. State Farm Automobile Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 

(1983) (a court is not to substitute its judgment for that of the agency).  “[T]he key to the arbitrary 

and capricious standard is its requirement of reasoned decision making: [the Court] will uphold the 

[agency’s] decision if, but only if, [it] can discern a reasoned path from the facts and 

considerations before the [agency] to the decision it reached.”  Neighborhood TV Co. v. FCC 742 

F.2d 629, 639 (D.C. Cir. 1984). 

 E.  Statutory Interpretation and Indian Law 

 In interpreting a statute, the general rule is that a court “must first determine whether the 

statutory text is plain and unambiguous.”  See Carcieri v. Salazar, 555 U.S. 379, 387 (2009) 

(interpreting the Indian Reorganization Act, 25 U.S.C § 465) (citations omitted).  “The Supreme 

Court has clarified that canons of statutory construction are slightly different when courts consider 

laws governing relations between the United States and Indian nations.”  Seneca Nation of 

Indians, 2013 WL 2255208 at 6.  “‘[T]he canons of construction applicable in Indian law are 

rooted in the unique trust relationship between the United States and the Indians.... [S]tatutes are to 
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be construed liberally in favor of the Indians, with ambiguous provisions interpreted to their 

benefit.”  Muscogee (Creek) Nation v. Hodel, 851 F. 2d 1439, 1444–45 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (quoting 

Montana v. Blackfeet Tribe, 471 U.S. 759, 766 (1985)); Tunica–Biloxi Tribe of La. v. United 

States, 577 F. Supp.2d 382, 421 (D.D.C.2008) (“The result, then, is that if the [statutory text] can 

reasonably be construed as the [t]ribe [ or tribal organization] would have it construed, it must be 

construed that way”) (quoting Muscogee, 851 F. 2d at 1445; alterations in original)). 

 “In seeking to give effect to the provisions of the ISDEAA, as with any statute, the Court 

must treat the “object and policy” of that statute as its polestar.”  Seneca Nation of Indians, 2013 

WL 2255208 at 6 (citing BlackLight Power, Inc. v. Rogan, 295 F.3d 1269, 1273 (Fed. Cir. 2002) 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).  The Supreme Court has explicitly found that the 

ISDEAA “seeks greater tribal self-reliance brought about through more ‘effective and meaningful 

participation by the Indian people’ in, and less ‘Federal domination’ of, ‘programs for, and 

services to, Indians.’”  Cherokee Nation of Okla. v. Leavitt, 543 U.S. 631, 639 (2005) (citations 

omitted). 

 ARGUMENT 

I. The Plaintiff Failed to Submit a Final Offer  
 
 The Plaintiff argues that its November 28, 2012 letter to AANHS was a final offer 

regarding the IHS lease of the Village of Ambler VBC.  Compl. ¶¶ 4-5.  The Plaintiff claims that 

the Defendant neither timely nor properly rejected the final offer and that therefore the Court 

should declare the final offer has been approved by operation of law pursuant to the ISDEAA. 

Compl. ¶ 6.   
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 Even assuming arguendo that a lease could be subject to a final offer – which it cannot - the 

Plaintiff did not follow the mandatory requirements for submitting final offers.  Because the 

Plaintiff failed to comply with these requirements, its November 2012 letter cannot be deemed a 

final offer.  Consequently, the Court should dismiss the Complaint. 

A. Mandatory requirements for final offer process  

 “Substantive rules – rules, other than organizational or procedural . . . issued by an agency 

pursuant to statutory authority and which implement the statute . . . Such rules have the force and 

effect of law.”  Attorney General’s Manual on the Administrative Procedure Act 30 n.3 (1947) 

(citations omitted), reprinted in Federal Administrative Sourcebook (William F. Funk, Jeffrey 

Lubbers & Charles Pou, Jr. eds., 3rd ed. 2000).  The IHS acquired rule making authority as part of 

2000 Amendments to the ISDEAA.  25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-16.  IHS issued regulation 42 CFR § 

137.132 and 137.133 to implement the final offer process pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-6(b) of 

the ISDEAA.  Thus, IHS’s regulations have the “force and effect of law.” 

 Before a final offer is submitted to the Indian Health Service, a tribal contractor must first 

discuss the issue with IHS and determine that the parties are unable to reach agreement.  42 

C.F.R. § 137.131.  All final offers must meet five requirements.  Under 42 C.F.R. § 

137.131-133, a final offer must: (1) be in writing; (2) be in a document that is completely 

separate from a compact, funding agreement, or amendment; (3) clearly identify the document as 

a “Final Offer”; (4) contain a description of the disagreement between the Secretary and the 

Tribe; and (5) contain the Tribe’s final proposal to resolve the disagreement.  42 C.F.R. §§ 

137.132 and 137.133.  These requirements ensure that the IHS is put on notice that a tribal 

contractor is making a final offer.  
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  “Not more than 45 days after such submission, or within a longer time agreed upon by the 

Indian tribe, the Secretary shall review and make a determination with respect to such offer.  In 

the absence of a timely rejection of the offer, in whole or in part, made in compliance with 

subsection (c) of this section, the offer shall be deemed agreed to by the Secretary.”  25 U.S.C. § 

458aaa-6(b); 42 C.F.R. §§ 137.137.  In “general,” IHS is to provide a written explanation of its 

decision to reject a final offer on the basis of one of the statutory rejection criteria stated in the 

ISDEAA.  25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-6(c).  In a civil action, IHS bears the burden of “demonstrating by 

clear and convincing evidence the validity of the grounds for rejecting the offer.”  25 U.S.C. § 

458aaa-6(d); 42 C.F.R. § 137.150.  

 B. Plaintiff failed to comply with two of five requirements for a final offer  

  The Plaintiff failed to comply with two of the five mandatory requirements for a final 

offer.  See 42 C.F.R. §§ 137.132 and 137.133.  Pursuant to the federal regulations, all final 

offers must:  i) “be in a document that is completely separate from a compact, funding 

agreement, or amendment;” ii) “clearly identify the document as a “Final Offer”; and iii) contain 

a description of the disagreement between the Secretary and the Tribe.  42 C.F.R. §§ 

137.132-133.  Plaintiff’s alleged final letter failed to comply with these two requirements. 

 i. be in a document that is completely separate 

 Plaintiff’s alleged final offer was not in a written document separate from the amendment 

it was proposing to its FA.  Exhibit 3; See 42 C.F.R. § 137.132(b).  Rather, the reference to a 

final offer was at the end of a lengthy, three page letter that had the proposed lease to Plaintiff’s 

FA attached to the letter.  Exhibit 3 at 3.   
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 ii. clearly identify the document as a “Final Offer 

 The Plaintiff’s reference in the November 2012 letter as a final offer appears only once in 

the lengthy four page letter.  Noticeably absent from the subject line of the letter on the first 

page is any indication that this letter constitutes a final offer.  Exhibit 3 at 1.  In the last 

paragraph on the third page, the Plaintiff used the term final offer for the first time and only time.  

Exhibit 3 at 3 (“Enclosed please find a proposed lease for the Ambler Clinic, submitted in 

accordance with the final offer provisions of Section 507 of the ISDEAA, 25 U.S.C. § 

458aaa-6.”).  This type of obfuscation is precisely contrary to the requirement and need that a 

final offer be “clearly” identified.  42 C.F.R. §§ 137.132.  IHS must be put on notice.  

 In Seneca Nation, the court recognized the importance of a tribal contractor following the 

regulatory requirements for a proposal under the ISDEAA to be “deemed approved” if the IHS 

misses its response period.  2013 WL 2255208.  In Seneca Nation, this court rejected the 

agency’s assertion that the plaintiff’s proposal did not start the response period in the ISDEAA 

because the plaintiff had put the IHS properly and clearly on notice by conforming its proposal to 

the ISDEAA requirements.  Seneca Nation, 2013 WL 2255208 (finding plaintiff’s proposed 

amendment to its Title I went unanswered and was consequently deemed approved pursuant to 

ISDEAA (25 U.S.C. § 450f(a)(2)) and its regulations (25 C.F.R. § 900.180)).  Here, the Plaintiff 

did not put IHS on notice because Plaintiff’s alleged final offer did not conform to ISDEAA or its 

regulations’ requirements, as discussed above. 

 Since the IHS was not put on notice that the Plaintiff’s November 2012 letter was 

intended as a final offer, IHS was under no requirement to respond within 45 days.  25 U.S.C. § 

458aaa-6(b); 42 C.F.R. §§ 137.137.  Neither was IHS required to “provide a written explanation 
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of its decision to reject a final offer on the basis of one of the statutory rejection criteria stated in 

the ISDEAA.”  25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-6(c).  

 Determining that a final offer is “deemed approved” is a harsh penalty that should only be 

an available remedy in situations where the tribal contractor has precisely followed the mandatory 

requirements for submitting a final offer.  That did not occur in this case.4  Consequently, the 

Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s complaint. 

II. Lease Proposals are not Subject to the Final Offer Process under the ISDEAA 

 While funding agreements are subject to the final offer process under the ISDEAA, leases 

are not.  See 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-6(b).  Pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa -6(b), a lease is not a part 

of a funding agreement and therefore is not subject to the final offer process.  Consequently, the 

Court should dismiss this case. 

 A. A lease is not a part of a funding agreement  

 Here, the statutory text is plain and unambiguous so the Court should not construe 

it liberally in favor of the Plaintiff.  See Muscogee (Creek) Nation v. Hodel, 851 F. 

2d 1439, 1444–45 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (“[S]tatutes are to be construed liberally in favor of 

the Indians, with ambiguous provisions interpreted to their benefit.”) (emphasis added).   

 Under a plain reading of 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b), a lease is not included as 

what constitutes a funding agreement.  Pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b): 

Each funding agreement under this title shall set forth –  
(1) Terms that generally identify the programs, services, functions, and activities 
 [PSFAs] (or portions thereof) to be performed or administered; and 

                                                 
4 The Plaintiff also failed to follow the terms of its own FA.  Section 12(g) of Plaintiff’s FA 
requires Plaintiff to send any proposed amendment to the IHS Office of Tribal Self Governance in 
Rockville, Maryland.  The Plaintiff does not alleged that it complied with this requirement.  See 
Compl. generally.  

Case 1:13-cv-00380-TFH   Document 21   Filed 07/19/13   Page 28 of 48



 
 24 

(2) For the items identified in paragraph (1) – 
(A) The general budget category assigned; 
(B) The funds to be provided, including those funds to be provided on a recurring basis; 
(C) The time and method of transfer of the funds; 
(D) The responsibilities of the Secretary; and 
(E) Any other provision with respect to which the Indian tribe and the Secretary agree. 
 

25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  According to ISDEAA, a funding agreement consists of 

specifically of PSFAs - “programs, services, functions, and activities” - and “any other 

provision with respect to which the Indian tribe and the Secretary agree.”  25 U.S.C. § 

458aaa – 4(b).  Notably, leases are not listed as what constitutes a funding agreement.  

See 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).   

 B. Omission of “lease” was no mistake and is not ambiguous 
 
 The Plaintiff argues that the omission of the term lease from what constitutes a 

funding agreement under ISDEAA is not dispositive.  Plt. MSJ at 26-27.  FAs consist 

of PSFAs and “any other provision with respect to which the Indian Tribe and the 

Secretary agree.”  25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  The Plaintiff alleges that it “chose to 

include” a lease “among the PSFAs in its funding agreement.”  Plt. MSJ at 26 (citing 

Ex. G at § 3(a)(s)(xiv).  Yet IDEAA does not define PSFAs as leases but as “programs, 

services, functions, and activities.”  25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  Alternatively, Plaintiff 

argues that the Court should read lease into the meaning of “any other provision with 

respect to which the Indian Tribe and the Secretary agree” because allegedly Congress 

intended that “this section is to be interpreted broadly.”  Plt. MSJ at 27.   

 Given the scrutiny that Congress placed on IHS’s granting of leases when the ISDEAA 

was enacted, this omission of the term lease as what constitutes a FA was not a mistake.  There is 

no ambiguity within which the term lease may be interpreted.  See Muscogee (Creek) 
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Nation, 851 F. 2d at 1444–45.  The ISDEAA’s lease authority section at 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l) was 

enacted in 1994, following a 11-12 year ban by Congress of IHS’s entrance into a new lease and a 

reporting requirement on any proposed adjustments to existing leases.  Pub. L. 103-413, § 102(13) 

(enacting 25 U.S.C. § 450j(i) through (n) to the ISDEAA); Pub. Law No. 99-100 (ban on new 

leases); Pub. Law No. 101-512 (reporting requirement on proposed adjustment to existing leases).  

Congress dropped the ban and the reporting requirements in 1992 after IHS created the Lease 

Priority System in 1991.  See 25 U.S.C. § 1631; see also Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook, Part 

33-3.1.2.  With the use of LPS, IHS prevents unauthorized program expansion through leasing 

and assesses the need to lease small health care clinic space.  See Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook, 

Exhibit 5, 33-3.1.1(C); 33-3.1.1 at 2. 

 The ISDEAA was enacted in the midst of Congress’s concern over IHS’s lease authority - 

as evidenced by the ban on new leases between 1971-1992, the reporting requirements on existing 

leases, and the authorization of the LPS.  The ISDEAA was first enacted on January 4, 1975, at 25 

U.S.C. §§ 450 et seq. and ISDEAA’s lease authority section at 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l) was enacted on 

October 25, 1994.  Pub. L. 103-413, § 102(13) (adding 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l) through (n) to the 

ISDEAA).  Because Congress’s intent was to carefully control IHS’s lease authority, it is clear 

that the omission of “lease” in the statutory definition of what constitutes a FA under the ISDEAA 

was not mistake.  25 See 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  Under ISDEAA, a lease should not be 

construed as part of a FA because the plain language of the statute does not include it as part of a 

FA.  See 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  Therefore, the Court should dismiss the complaint. 
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 C. Common meaning of PSFAs and “provision” does not include lease 

 The terms PSFA (“programs, services, functions, and activities”) and “provision” 

are undefined under the ISDEAA.  See 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  “In a statutory 

construction case, the Supreme Court starts with the statutory text, and proceeds from the 

understanding that unless otherwise defined, statutory terms are generally interpreted in 

accordance with their ordinary meaning.  Sebelius v. Cloer, 133 S. Ct. 1886, 1889 

(2013) (citing BP America Production Co. v. Burton, 549 U.S. 84, 91 (2006)).  Because 

PSFA (“programs, services, functions, and activities”) and “provision” are not defined, 

they must be given their common meaning.   

 i. a lease is not a PSFA in common language 

 In common ordinary language, none of the terms, programs, services, functions, 

and activities, are property contracts.  Compare Merriam-Webster’s Collegiate 

Dictionary 929, 1067, 471, 12 (10th ed. 2001) (defining:  program as “plan or system 

under which action may be taken toward a goal”; service as “work performed by one that 

serves”; function as “[a]ny of a group of related actions contributing to larger actions” 

and activity as “[v]igorous or energetic action) with Black’s Law Dictionary 898 (7th ed. 

1999) (describing lease as “[a] contract by which a rightful possessor of real property 

conveys the right to use and occupy that property in exchange for consideration”) 

(emphasis added).  Because statutory terms are generally interpreted in accordance with 

their ordinary meaning, the Court should not broadly read the meaning of lease into the 

terms for PSFAs “programs, services, functions, and activities” in 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 

4(b).  Sebelius, 133 S. Ct. at 1889.  
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 ii. a lease is not a provision in common language  

 Even in common legal language, a lease is not a “provision.”  A provision is a 

“clause in a statute, contract, or other legal instrument.”  See Black’s Law Dictionary at 

1240 (7th ed. 1999).  Because a lease is commonly referred to as a whole contract, a 

lease cannot be understood to be a “provision” under ISDEAA.  See Black’s Law 

Dictionary 898 (7th ed. 1999) (describing lease as “[a] contract by which a rightful 

possessor of real property conveys the right to use and occupy that property in exchange 

for consideration”).  Because statutory terms are generally interpreted in accordance 

with their ordinary meaning, the Court should not broadly read the meaning of lease into 

the term “provision” in 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  Sebelius, 133 S. Ct. at 1889.   

In sum, the plain and unambiguous language of the statute excludes leases from the 

composition of a funding agreement.  See 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  Nor can a lease be read 

into the statute consistent with the common ordinary language of “programs, services, functions, 

and activities” and “provisions.”  25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 4(b).  Because the applicable statutory 

language is plain and unambiguous, the statutory construction mandate in favor of the Indians does 

not apply.  See Muscogee (Creek) Nation, 851 F. 2d at 1444–45.  Because leases are not a part of 

funding agreements, Plaintiff’s request for a lease was not subject to the final offer process.  See 

25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-6(b).  Consequently, the Court should dismiss this case. 

 D. Lease authority restricted by authorizing laws 

 The Plaintiff argues that nothing in the ISDEAA prevents the inclusion of a lease in an FA.  

Plt MSJ at 17.  An agency, however, is a creature of statute and its authority to act begins and ends 

within the boundaries of its authorizing laws.  See City of Arlington, Texas v. FCC, 133 S. Ct. 
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1863, 1869 (2013) (“But for agencies charged with administering congressional statutes, both their 

power to act and how they are to act is authoritatively prescribed by Congress, so that when they 

act improperly, no less than when they act beyond their jurisdiction, what they do is ultra vires.” ).  

In other words, the IHS is not a private citizen who can freely take actions that are not prohibited 

by law, but instead must take action that is authorized by law.  Including a lease in a FA is not 

authorized by the ISDEAA, the Indian Health Care Improvement Act, or any of the other leasing 

authorities available to the IHS.  Therefore, the Court should find that pursuant to the ISDEAA, 

the IHS may not accept a lease as a part of a FA. 

Plaintiff points to the ISDEAA’s authority for the IHS to include grants in FAs, and 

suggests that the IHS has similar authority to include leases in FAs.  Plt MSJ at 17.  Plaintiff 

overlooks the fact that grants are explicitly authorized by the ISDEAA to be included in FAs.  

Section 505(b)(2), which Plaintiff relies on for its position, is an explicit grant of statutory 

authority to the IHS to include grant in FAs.  25 U.S.C. §458aaa-4(b).5  There is no such similar 

grant of authority in the ISDEAA or any of the IHS’s lease authorities that sanction the inclusion 

of a lease in an FA.   

Surely, if Congress was cognizant of whether a grant may be included in an FA, then it 

must have been equally cognizant of leases when including language concerning leases but not the 

authority to make them part of the FAs.  25 U.S.C. § 450j(l).6  Such authority could have easily 

been included in § 450j(l) or in §458aaa-4(b) by simply adding the word “leases” after “including 

grants” in this subsection.  The fact that Congress deliberately left out the authority to include 

                                                 
5 References to Section 505(b) or 25 U.S.C. §458aaa-4(b) may also be “§458aaa-4(b).” 
6 References to Section 105(l) or 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l) may also be “§ 450j(l). 
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leases in an FA when it carved out such an exception for grants demonstrates that leases were 

never meant to be a term or provision of an FA. 

III. Remand, In the Alternative to Dismissal 

 If the Court determines that the Plaintiff’s November 2012 letter was an appropriate final 

offer, then like the Court found in Aleutian Pribilof Islands Assoc. v. DOI, 537 F. Supp. 2d 1 

(D.D.C. 2008), the proper remedy is a remand back to the IHS so that the agency can analyze 

Plaintiff’s final proposal against the appropriate statutory criteria.  See 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-6(c).  

In Aleutian Pribilof Islands Assoc., this court remanded back to the agency a tribal contractor’s 

proposal because the agency failed to issue a declination under the ISDEAA due to its mistaken 

belief that the tribal contractor’s request was not subject to the declination process in Title I of 

the ISDEAA.7  Aleutian Pribilof Islands Assoc., 537 F. Supp. at 12-13 (“The BIA must 

examine APIA's request for Section 14(h)(1) funds having been disabused of that belief [that the 

tribal contractor’s request was not subject to the declination process”), contra Seneca Nation of 

Indians, 2013 WL 2255208 (finding that if a tribal contractor follows the regulatory requirements 

for a proposal under the ISDEAA, then it is deemed approved if the IHS misses its response 

period).   

 Unlike Seneca Nation of Indians, where the Court determined that IHS simply ignored the 

Seneca’s letter that clearly made a proposal under Title I, here the Plaintiff’s letter did not put IHS 

on notice of the alleged final offer.  Seneca Nation of Indians, 2013 WL 2255208 at 12.  As 

discussed above, the Plaintiff’s alleged final offer did not fit the regulatory requirements for a final 

offer.  Moreover, in Seneca Nation of Indians, the Court noted that IHS ignored the Seneca letter 
                                                 
7 The declination process at 25 U.S.C. § 450f(a)(2) is the Title I equivalent to the Title V final offer 
process at 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa – 6(c) of the ISDEAA.  
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and did not respond to it.  2013 WL 2255208 at 4 (“Radio silence then ensued. IHS did not 

respond to [Seneca’s] April 29, 2011 Letter”).  Here, IHS replied within 60 days explaining that 

the “IHS does not agree that the lease proposal in your letter could be submitted as a final offer 

under the authority of Title V of the ISDEAA.”  Exhibit 4.  Consequently, in this case the IHS’s 

position is not ad hoc excuse made much later in litigation but a genuine position that merits 

remand should the court decide Plaintiff’s alleged final offer was valid and subject to the final 

offer process. 

 In the event that the Court determines that the November 2013 letter was a final offer and 

that the lease at issue was appropriately a part of that final offer, the Court should remand the 

proposal back to the Defendant for a determination. 

IV. IHS has Discretion in Determining Compensation for § 450j(1) Leases 

 A. IHS has discretion in determining compensation 

 i. IHS discretion in compensation 

 Under the ISDEAA, IHS has no discretion as to whether it will enter into a lease but it has 

discretion in determining what type of compensation the lease shall have.  25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(1); 

25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2).  Under 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(1), IHS must enter into a lease under this 

authority if requested by the tribal contractor.  25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(1) (“Upon the request of an 

Indian tribe or tribal organization, the Secretary shall enter into a lease with the Indian tribe or 

tribal organization that holds title to, a leasehold interest in, or a trust interest in, a facility used by 

the Indian tribe or tribal organization for the administration and delivery of services under this 

subchapter.”) (emphasis added). 
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 However, the ISDEAA gives IHS discretion in determining what type of compensation it 

will give for the lease.  25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2).  Pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2): 

The Secretary shall compensate each Indian tribe or tribal organization that enters into a 
lease under paragraph (1) for the use of the facility leased for the purposes specified in such 
paragraph.  Such compensation may include rent, depreciation based on the useful life of 
the facility, principal and interest paid or accrued, operation and maintenance expenses, 
and such other reasonable expenses that the Secretary determines, by regulation, to be 
allowable. 
 

25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2) (emphasis added).  The implementing regulations reiterate the statute; “[t]o 

the extent that no element is duplicative, the following elements may be included in the lease 

compensation . . . (listing a numerous elements)”  25 C.F.R. § 900.70 (emphasis added). 

 The Plaintiff incorrectly argues that the IHS has no discretion in granting compensation.  

Plt. MSJ at 24.  Plaintiff ignores the statutory phrase “such compensation may include” and 

ignores the regulatory phrase “the following elements may be included.”  25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2).  

It is clear, however, that the plain meaning of the statute’s phrase, as echoed in the regulations, is 

that the IHS may decide what the appropriate compensation is. 

 ii. IHS discretion in monetary or nonmonetary compensation 

 Furthermore, the Plaintiff argues that the compensation must be monetary.  Plt. MSJ at 25 

(disagreeing with position that IHS has discretion on “whether a tribe is entitled to any monetary 

compensation at all”).  The Plaintiff refers to the compensation options listed in the statute and 

regulations but again ignores the word “may.”  The lists of possible compensation in the statute 

and regulation are not closed lists precisely because of the use of the word may.  25 U.S.C. § 

450j(l)(2).  (“such compensation may include” the listed options).  25 C.F.R. § 900.70 (The 

following elements “may” be included in the lease compensations, so long as they are not 

“duplicative”).  Therefore, nonmonetary compensation for a lease is an option. 
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 Where non-monetary leases as appropriate, the requesting tribe is able to enjoy the benefits 

that attend property that the federal government has an interest in, such as the extension of 

coverage under the Federal Tort Claims Act (25 U.S.C. §§ 450f(d) and 458aaa-15(a)), freedom 

from state property taxes as well as being considered a facility of Public Health Service for 

compensation under Social Security Act authorities.    

 iii. Indian contractor does not dictate compensation 

 The Plaintiff also incorrectly cites to 25 C.F.R. § 900.74 for the proposition that an Indian 

tribe “may choose one of three options for that compensation.”  Plt. MSJ at 24.  Section § 900.74  

does not give the Indian tribe the authority to choose its compensation, instead the regulation gives 

the Indian tribe the ability to “propose” a lease’s compensation.  Section § 900.74 states: 

 How may an Indian tribe or tribal organization propose a lease to be compensated for the 
 use of  facilities?  There are three options available: 
 

(a) The lease may be based on fair market rental. 
(b) The lease may be based on a combination of fair market rental and paragraphs 
(a) through (h) of § 900.70, provided that no element of expense is duplicated in fair 
market rental. 
(c) The lease may be based on paragraphs (a) through (h) of § 900.70 only. 
 

25 C.F.R. § 900.74 (emphasis added). 

 iv. Statutory construction and policy indicate IHS has discretion for compensation 

 The Plaintiff argues that ISDEAA meant to give the Indian contractor the ability to choose 

its own compensation, even though there is no statutory language for such a bold proposition.  Plt 

MSJ at 24.  Plaintiff attempts to add ambiguity to ISDEAA’s statute provision but the plain 

language of the statute is clear.  See Muscogee (Creek) Nation, 851 F. 2d at 1444–45) (“[S]tatutes 

are to be construed liberally in favor of the Indians, with ambiguous provisions interpreted to their 

benefit.”) .  Therefore, the Court should not broadly interpret ISDEAA to mean that the Indian 
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contractor may dictate the acceptance of a lease and the compensation for the lease it desires.  

Instead, the Court should follow the plain meaning of ISDEAA which, with the use of the term 

“may” gives IHS discretion under 105(l) on determining the type of compensation for leases.  25 

U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2). 

 Furthermore, “[i] n seeking to give effect to the provisions of the ISDEAA, as with any 

statute, the Court must treat the “object and policy” of that statute as its polestar.”  Seneca Nation 

of Indians v. DHHS, 2013 WL 2255208 at *6 (citing BlackLight Power, Inc., 295 F.3d at 1273 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).  Here, Congress enacted ISDEAA’s lease 

provision in 1994 after years of expressing concern over IHS entering into leases.  Congress’s 

concern over IHS’s lease authority as was evident in the 11-12 year ban on leases, reporting 

requirements for new lease and then the authorization of the LPS in 1991 meant to help IHS 

monitor unauthorized leases.  Because the object and policy of the ISDEAA was not to give tribal 

contractors the authority to choose their compensation – which would result in a first come first 

serve lease practice benefitting only some tribes, as opposed to an equitable practice that would 

benefit all tribes.  Given the object and policy of providing fair and equitable assistance to the 

Indian tribes, the Court should reject Plaintiff’s request to dictate the terms of its lease. 

 B. Plaintiff confuses IDEAA and IHCIA 

 The Plaintiff could have requested a lease of its facilities under IHCIA, which mandates 

that the Defendant must pay certain costs to the tribal contractor once IHS agrees to enter into the 

lease.  25 U.S.C. §1674; 42 C.F.R. § 136.360.  Instead, the Plaintiff requested a lease of its 

facilities under the IDEAA, which gives the IHS discretion in determining compensation.  
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Compl. ¶ 26; 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2).  IHS informed the Plaintiff via letter about these lease 

authorities.  See Exhibit 2.   

 The Plaintiff, however, wants to have it both ways – have the IHS bound to enter into a 

lease of Plaintiff’s choice at the funding level of Plaintiff’s choice.  Neither the lease authorities in 

the ISDEAA nor the IHCIA give a tribal contractor both options.  Compare 25 U.S.C. §1674(b) 

(if the agency agrees to enter into a lease under this authority, the IHS must compensate the tribal 

contractor for facility costs related to the lease) with 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(2) (IHS has discretion 

about determining what type of compensation it will give for the lease).  In effect, the Plaintiff 

seeks to have its cake and eat it too.  The Plaintiff, however, cannot dictate both IHS’s acceptance 

of a lease and dictate the compensation for that lease under IDEAA or indeed under any statute.  

Accordingly, the Court should dismiss Plaintiff’s complaint. 

V. Defendant Appropriately Relies on the Lease Priority System Process 

 A. Lease Priority System Process 

 i. Lease Priority System 

 The LPS is an administrative review process utilized to self-monitor against unauthorized 

program expansion through leasing and “to assess the need to lease small health care clinic space.”   

See Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook, 33-3.1.1(C) ; 33-3.1.1 at 2 (IHS suggested LPS as a means to 

self-monitor against unauthorized program expansion through leasing).  Section 33 of the IHS 

Technical Handbook for Environmental Health and Engineering, lays out the entire LPS process 

and is accessible to the public on the IHS website.  http://www.ihs.gov/oehe/hb/pdf/03303a1.pdf 

Review of IHS and Tribal Lease Proposals.  Prior to LPS, Congress maintained a 12 year 

moratorium against new or expanded leases without advance provision for funding cited in 
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subsequent Appropriation Acts.  See e.g. Pub. Law No. 99-100 (ban on new lease) Pub. Law No. 

101-512 (reporting requirement on any proposed adjustments to existing leases).”  Moreover, 

since 1989, Congress has not appropriated funding for leases regardless of whether they are 

pursuant to the ISDEAA or the IHCIA or some other authority.  See Department of Interior and 

Related Agencies Appropriation Act, Pub. L. No. 100-446, 102 Stat. 1774, 1817 (1989) (granting 

funding for VBC leases).   

 ii) Deference warranted for IHS’s use of LPS 

 The Defendant does not dispute that the Plaintiff has the right not to participate in the LPS 

process.  Plt. MSJ at 17, 25 U.S.C. § 458aaa-16(e) (“Unless expressly agreed to by the 

participating Indian tribe in the compact or funding agreement, the participating Indian tribe shall 

not be subject to any agency circular, policy, manual, guidance, or rule adopted by the Indian 

Health Service”).  Indeed, should a tribal contractor, such as the Plaintiff, refuse to cooperate in 

the LPS process, then the agency would be faced with negotiating a lease directly with the tribal 

contractor using the same criteria from the Lease Priority System, or possibly entering into a lease 

that contains no funding for a tribal contractor’s alleged costs.  This Court, however, should give 

deference to the IHS’s use of the LPS, whether or not the Indian tribe chooses to participate, as a 

means to decide fairly and consistently how to fund lease requests from tribal contractors, 

regardless of whether or not a tribal contractor chooses to be subject to LPS.   

 An agency’s interpretations of a statute “contained in policy statements, agency manuals, 

and enforcement guidelines … may merit some deference whatever its form, given the 

‘specialized experience and broader investigations and information’ available to the agency, and 

given the value of uniformity in its administrative and judicial understandings of what a national 
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law requires[.]”  U.S. v. Mead, 533 U.S. 218, 234 (2000) (finding Skidmore deference may be 

applicable where Chevron deference is not) (citing the Supreme Court's holding in Skidmore v. 

Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134, 140 (1944)).8  The IHS’s Lease Priority System merits a degree of 

deference from this court due to IHS’s expertise on the issue of tribal leases and the need for 

uniformity in determining the fair allocation of the limited funding to all of its tribal contractors.   

 The LPS process not only ensures fair allocations of limited funding, but also prevents the 

IHS from violating the statutory mandate that the agency never reduce funding for one Tribe in 

order to make funds available to another.  25 U.S.C. §§ 450j-1(b), 458aaa – 15(a).  The LPS 

allows IHS to consider each lease request using uniform criteria.  This rational approach enables 

IHS to make rational decision as to whether a particular tribal contractor’s request for a lease 

should be given any priority over those of other tribal contractors.  Thus, the Court should grant 

deference to IHS’s use of LPS and uphold IHS’s reliance on the LPS process. 

VI. VBC Lease Exemption to LPS Process is not Applicable to Plaintiff 

 The Plaintiff argues that the Technical Handbook exempts VBC leases and that therefore 

their request for a lease for the Ambler City facility is exempt.  Plt. MSJ at 23.  Although VBC 

leases are exempt from the LPS process, Plaintiff’s lease request under 105(l) is not exempt.  See 

Exhibit 5, Technical Handbook, 33-3.1.2 (“Leases not applicable to the LPS process include 

Village Built Clinic (VBC) leases”); 33-3.1.5(C) (Exclusions from LPS Process includes VBC 

leases).  Here, Plaintiff has made a 105(l) lease request not a VBC lease request.  Compl. ¶ 26.  

All 105(l) lease requests are subject to the LPS process.  Poncho Decl., ¶ 9.    

                                                 
8  Although the LPS was not subjected to notice and comment rule making, it still deserves some 
degree of deference by this Court.  Mead, 533 U.S. at 234 (noting that deference may be 
warranted even where the agency has not engaged in notice and comment rule making). 
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 i. Village Built Clinic leases  

 Village Built Clinics are specific to Alaska.  Exhibit 6, Technical Handbook, 33-3.3.1.  

The VBC leasing program is “intended to lease space in isolated Alaskan locations where the 

Community Health Aide is the primary health care provider.”  Exhibit 6, Technical Handbook, 

33-3.3.1.   The Department of Interior and Related Agencies Appropriations Act of 1989 

authorized a maximum number of one hundred and seventy (170) VBCs in Alaska and provided 

approximately three million in funding for these leases.  P.L. 100-446, 102 Stat. 1774, 1817 

(1989).  The IHS relies on its categorical space delegation of authority from GSA to lease this 

type of space.  See 43 C.F.R. §102-73.145-55.  Pursuant to regulation, VBC leases are capped at 

$50,000 and IHS uses a set formula to determine the yearly lease payment.  Alaska Area Circular 

(Attached as Poncho Decl. Exhibit 3) at Section 6.  Requests for VBC leases, if the proposed 

clinic meets all regulatory criteria, will be granted if “sufficient funds are available.”  Id. at ¶ 

11-E. 

 ii. No VBC lease request made, only a 105(l) lease request made 

 Plaintiff requested a 105(l)lease pursuant to ISDEAA and did not request a VBC lease 

pursuant to the Department of Interior and Related Agencies Appropriations Act of 1989.  Compl. 

¶ 26 (requesting 105(l) lease pursuant to ISDEAA, 25 U.S.C. § 450 j(l)).  Lease requests may 

derive from separate statutory authority.  For example, for VBC leases, there is only authority for 

a total of 170 VBC.  See 43 C.F.R. §102-73.145-55.  Under ISDEAA, there is no such restriction 

on the number of leases.  For its Ambler City facility, the Plaintiff specifically requested a 105(l) 

lease pursuant to ISDEAA, 25 U.S.C. § 450 j(l).  Compl. ¶ 26.  Consequently, the lease request at 

issue is not a VBC lease and is not exempt from the LPS process. 
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 iii. Plaintiff does not qualify for a VBC lease  

 Pursuant to AANHS practice, “VBC leases are between the IHS and a third party, not the 

[tribal] contractor that has an ISDEAA compact/funding with the IHS.  When an ISDEAA [tribal] 

contractor wants the IHS to lease space that it owns, … that request is processed through the IHS 

Lease Priority System.”  Poncho Decl., ¶ 9.  Thus, to qualify for a VBC leases, the tribal 

contractor must not own the clinic at issue in the lease.  See Poncho Decl., ¶¶ 2, 8, 9 (In the VBC 

lease program, the AANHS enters into leases … when a T/TO contractor … does not own a clinic 

in a particular village.”).   

 Here, the Plaintiff canceled all eleven of its former VBC leases as it took over ownership of 

the clinics.  E.g., Poncho Decl., Exhibit 3 (“This letter is to notify you that the Maniilaq 

Association will be taking over ownership of the following clinic locations ...Ambler – Effective 

1/03 … We also request [HIS] cancel the lease[].”)  The Plaintiff refers to its tribal clinic in 

Ambler, Alaska, as a Village Built Clinic, or “VBC.”  Compl., 3.  However, VBC leases are not 

granted to tribal organization that holds title to facilities.  Poncho Decl., ¶¶ 2, 8, 9.  “When a 

tribal contractor wants the IHS to lease space that it owns, also known as ‘Tribally Owned Space’, 

that request is processed through the IHS Lease Priority System.”  Poncho Decl., ¶ 9.    

 Section 105(l) leases are granted to tribal organization that holds title to facilities.  25 

U.S.C. § 450j(l) (regarding Section 105(l) leases “the Secretary shall enter into a lease with the 

Indian tribe or tribal organization that holds title to, a leasehold interest in, or a trust interest in, a 

facility”) (emphasis added).9  Because the Plaintiff owns the Ambler facility, the Plaintiff does 

                                                 
9   Section 105(l) is unique in that it authorizes a lease under which IHS does not occupy or 
directly utilize the tribal facility as a tenant.  See 25 U.S.C. § 450j(l)(1).  
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not qualify for a VBC lease and does not meet the VBC exception to the Lease Priority System 

Process. 

 iv. Court should give deference to IHS’s practice 

 The IHS’s long standing practice is to not grant VBC leases to tribal owners.  Poncho 

Decl. ¶¶ 2, 8, 9.  “[A]n agency's interpretation may merit some deference whatever its form, given 

the ‘specialized experience and broader investigations and information’ available to the agency, 

and given the value of uniformity in its administrative and judicial understandings of what a 

national law requires[.]”  Mead, 533 U.S. at 234 (citing the Supreme Court's holding in Skidmore 

v. Swift & Co., 323 U.S. 134, 140 (1944)).  Given Congress’s historical restrictions and scrutiny 

of lease expansion as well as limited funding, the Court should defer to IHS’s expertise in fairly 

allocating resources for requested leases.   

 The Defendant acknowledges that neither the applicable statute nor IHS’s regulations or 

policy circulars specify that VBC leases are restricted to non-tribal owners.  Compare Exhibit 6, 

Technical Handbook, 33-3.3, generally; Alaska Area Circular (Attached as Poncho Decl. Exhibit 

3) with Poncho Decl. ¶¶ 2, 8, 9.  The IHS, however, does not believe it has ever granted a VBC 

lease to a tribal owner of a facility.  See Poncho Decl. ¶ 22.  Furthermore, the Plaintiff was aware 

of this practice as is evident from the fact that in 2003 the Plaintiff informed the IHS that it was 

cancelling the VBC lease for the Ambler facility in light of it becoming the owner of the Ambler 

facility.  Poncho Decl., Exhibit 3 (This letter is to notify you that the Maniilaq Association will be 

taking over ownership of the following clinic locations ...Ambler – Effective 1/03 … We also 

request [IHS] cancel the lease[].”)   
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 Given IHS’s long standing practice, the Court should grant deference to IHS’s entering 

into VBC leases only with tribal contractors who do “not own a clinic in a particular village.”  

Poncho Decl. ¶ 2. 

VII. In the Alternative, Court should Grant lease Contingent on Reduction in FA Amount  

 A. Double payment 

 Ironically, the Plaintiff is requesting a lease for a facility for which every year the Plaintiff 

receives funding in the exact amount of the IHS allocation for that facility’s now cancelled VBC 

lease.  In 2003 when the Plaintiff took over ownership of the Ambler City facility lease, it 

canceled the facility’s lease.  Poncho Decl., Exhibit 3 (“This letter is to notify you that the 

Maniilaq Association will be taking over ownership of the following clinic locations ...Ambler – 

Effective 1/03 … We also request [IHS] cancel the lease[].”)  The Plaintiff simultaneously 

requested the funding for the lease to be directed to its funding agreement amount.  Poncho Decl., 

Exhibit 3 (“[W] e request that the buy back for the Village Built Clinic lease for these locations 

remain within the Maniilaq Association Funding Agreement”).  Pursuant to Plaintiff’s request, 

IHS canceled the lease with the City of Ambler and directed the amount allocated to the previous 

VBC lease into the Plaintiff’s funding agreement.  Every year since 2003, the IHS has directed 

this amount allocated to the previous VBC lease into the Plaintiff’s funding agreement.  Poncho 

Decl., ¶ 8, 17 (“Maniilaq Association continues to receive $309,421 on a recurring, annual basis in 

its compact/funding agreement for the maintenance and operation of [all eleven former VBC 

leased] clinics”).  
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 Because the Plaintiff already receives yearly the allocated money for the cancelled Ambler 

City VBC lease, a new lease for the same facility would be in effect a double payment and an 

unwarranted windfall. 

 B. Need for a reduction in Plaintiff’s funding agreement 

 In order to prevent IHS from paying the Plaintiff twice for the same facility – once in 

compact funding agreement and then again in a new lease for the same item - the Plaintiff would 

have to agree to reduce its annual compact/funding agreement amount by the amount it presently 

receives for the canceled Ambler City facility lease.  25 U.S.C. §§ 450j-1(b)(2); 458aaa-15(a) 

(“Amount of funds required by subsection A [amount of medical service funds] shall not be 

reduced by the Secretary in subsequent years except by tribal authorization”).  The Plaintiff could 

then receive that same amount back for compensation in a 105(l) lease. 

 Therefore, if the Court orders the Defendant to provide a new lease with monetary 

compensation for the Ambler City facility, the Court should condition the lease upon the Plaintiff’s 

agreement to correspondingly reduce its annual compact/funding agreement amount by the 

amount it receives for the previously cancelled Ambler City VBC lease.  Conditioning the receipt 

of compensation for a lease upon such a reduction would avoid of double payment on the same 

facility. 

VIII. The Community Health Aide Program  

 The Plaintiff argues that the IHS is not carrying out its statutory responsibilities under the 

CHAP provision in the IHCIA, especially the alleged responsibility that IHS has to provide full 

compensation for leasing clinic space in order to implement the CHAP.  See e.g. Compl. ¶¶ 4-6; 

26 (“the CHAP in Alaska utilizing the VBCs, 25 U.S.C. Section1616l.”).  
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 Notwithstanding Plaintiff’s many references to it, §1616l simply has no relevance to the 

question of whether IHS is required to provide full funding for ISDEAA leases under § 450j(l).  

The CHAP statute includes no reference whatsoever to leasing or the physical space needs for the 

CHAP program.  See 25 U.S.C. § 1616l(a).  There is no reference to the leasing authorities of the 

ISDEAA or the IHCIA or to any other leasing authority in the CHAP statute.  See 25 U.S.C. § 

1616l(a).  There is no mention of Village Built Clinics in the CHAP statute either.  See 25 U.S.C. 

§ 1616l(a).10    

 The CHAP authority is located in IHCIA Subchapter I (“Indian Health Professional 

Personnel”) where Congress authorized the program to address the need for health practitioners in 

remote areas of Alaska.  See 25 U.S.C. § 1616l(a).  Like all the other sections in the health 

professions personnel subchapter, the CHAP addresses the training and recruitment of health 

practitioners to serve Indians and not the construction and maintenance of facilities (“IHCIA 

Subchapter III covers health facilities”).  Compare 25 U.S.C. § 1611-1616r (“Indian Health 

Professional Personnel”) with 25 U.S.C. 1631-1638g (“Health Facilities”). 

 What the CHAP statute does require is that IHS “develop and operate a Community Health 

Aide Program in the State of Alaska” by (1) training Alaska Natives as health aides or community 

health practitioners, (2) using them in the provision of health care in rural Alaska, and (3) 

establishing teleconferencing capacity in health clinics.  25 U.S.C. § 1616l(a).  IHS continues to 

fully meet the requirement that it “develop and operate a Community Health Aide Program in the 
                                                 
10  The Plaintiff refers to a 2007 Senate Committee on Indian Affairs oversight hearing on the 
IHCIA and the statement of Steve Gage, the Director of the Southeast Alaska Regional Health 
Consortium’s (SEARCH) CHAP.  Plt. MSJ at 3-4.  According to the Plaintiff’s reference, 
Gage’s testimony centered on the CHAP’s assistance in providing health care but not the 
maintenance needs of the clinics.  See Plt. MSJ at 3-4 (without CHAP, “Our health care would go 
way down”).   
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State of Alaska” by meeting all the specific requirements Congress laid out in §1616l.  25 U.S.C. 

§ 1616l(a).   

CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing, the Defendant respectfully request that the Court dismiss the 

complaint, or in the alternative, grant summary judgment in favor of the Defendant.  In the 

event that the Court finds the Plaintiff submitted a final proposal, the Defendant requests that the 

Court remand the case so that the Defendant may determine what compensation is needed for the 

lease.  If the Court determined that the lease must be approved and monetarily compensated, the 

Defendant requests that the Court condition the grant of the lease upon the Plaintiff’s agreement to 

forego the funding it already receives every year through its ISDEAA compact/funding agreement 

for the previously cancelled lease for its Ambler City facility.   

 

Dated:  July 19, 2013   Respectfully submitted, 
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